
Children's Scrutiny Panel 
Dear Member,

You are invited to attend the meeting of the Children's Scrutiny Panel to be held as 
follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
Miranda Carruthers-Watt 
Proper Officer

DATE: Wednesday, 8 January 2020

TIME: 2.00 pm

VENUE: Committee Room 2, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

AGENDA

1  1:30pm - Members only briefing 

2  Apologies for Absence 

3  Minutes of the previous meeting 

Minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 13th November 2019

(Pages 1 - 6)

4  Education Update 

4a Unvalidated education outcomes 2019 -  Cathy Starbuck 

4b Salford Transition Policy (between years 6 and 7) 2019/20 - Vicky 
Ross 

(Pages 7 - 30)

4c School Provider Arm Update - Cathy Starbuck (Pages 31 - 38)

5  The work programme (Pages 39 - 42)

6  Any Other business 

7  Date and time of future meetings 

The next meeting will be held on Wednesday 12th February 2020 at 
2pm in Committee Room 4 (1.30pm for members of the panel).

Contact Officer: Tel No: 0161 793 2811
Liz Wright E-Mail: liz.wright@salford.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CHILDREN’S SCRUTINY PANEL

Date of meeting: 13th November 2019

Meeting commenced: 2.00 p.m.
Meeting ended:  4:20 p.m.

PRESENT: Councillor Brocklehurst – in the Chair

Councillors: Jim Cammell, Jillian Collinson, Laura Edwards (Vice Chair), Ari Leitner, Lewis 
Nelson, Mike Pevitt, Madeline Wade, Joan Walsh, Ronnie Wilson.

Co-opted Members: Dr Keith Archer, Jacqui Morrissey (Foster Parents Association), 

OFFICERS: Zoe Fearon – Assistant Director Children’s Social Care
Sayma Khan – Head of Service Route 29

Liz Wright – Democratic Services

MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC:
None.

1. INTRODUCTIONS , APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor McCusker, Councillor Reynolds and Charlotte 

Ramsden.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
 There were no declarations of interest.

3. LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN (Zoe Fearon and Sayma Khan) 
Sayma Khan gave a presentation, that included a video made by some of the young people involved 
and highlighted the following.  This included questions from members that were answered by Sayma 
and Zoe.
 An update had been given three to four months ago and this presentation would focus on the early 

stages of the implementation of No Wrong Door or as it was now known as Route 29. It had been 
renamed in response to the request by the young people involved and they had chosen the name.

 The implementation had included reviewing practice in terms of governance; the development of the 
model; and recruitment, induction and training.

 Route 29 was designed by staff, parents and young people together and the shared approach was 
explained.

 The Route 29 Strategic Board was being set up and would be chaired by Zoe Fearon (Assistant 
Director Children’s Social Care) and would include the police and colleagues from health.

 The former Grange care home was used as the hub for Route 29 and the local community were 
now more supportive of it being located in their neighbourhood now that there was more of an 
understanding of the provision.

 Greater Manchester (GM) partners were in the same phase of implementation.
 The important questions that were asked when developing it in Salford were:

o Would this be good enough for my child?
o Are we managing risk for the organisation or risk to the young person?
o Why can’t we, what’s the best that could happen?
o Is there a shared approach to supporting/caring across partner agencies 
o What kind of adult do they want to be: in 5 years, 25/35/50
o Are we going the extra mile to help young people achieve their ambitions?

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2

 The short and medium term emergency beds were explained.
 Anonymous examples of bespoke placements were given.
 The Local Authority was working with housing organisations to meet the housing needs of 17 year 

olds and above if they were ready for independent living.
 The staffing of the Hub was described and how it linked to the complex safeguarding team.
 It was reported that Salford was pushing for consistency of pay for foster carers across GM.
 Key challenges for the approach were highlighted, such as:

o it was a new way of working that required a big culture change for staff, parents and young 
people;

o risk was being managed in a different way;
o there were challenges that remained around fostering.

 Are we looking at why certain behaviours are triggered?
Clinical psychologists were used to help understand the triggers for behaviours. 

 What happens when staff move on? How do we stop young people (YP) having to repeat their 
stories?
The key worker would stay with the young person and this was key to the strategy.  Each YP had a 
book where they had written their story and that would accompany them, throughout their journey.  

 Is the Corporate Parenting Panel pushing for job opportunities for Looked After Children (LAC)?  Is 
the accommodation for staff separate from the living accommodation in the Hub so it feels more like 
a home for the YP?
The Grange had an annex included specifically to keep the staff office accommodation separate 
from the living accommodation for the YP.  The YP living space would not be used for any staff 
functions and meetings.  Two of the YP involved in the design of the provision had applied for jobs 
and one had wanted to offer some sports coaching to other YP vai the Hub.

 Can you explain some of the key aspects of the 360 co-design?
There had been a focus on culture change vai training and development for staff and this included 
restorative justice training for all staff.  The family group conference strategy was key to the success 
as the focus was what was best for the YP, and for example this could include being placed in their 
wider family, rather than just sticking to processes for processes sake. Support for parents via 
Outreach from educational psychologists was also key for YP not in education, employment or 
training (NEETS).  The focus was on positive outcomes for YP.

 What does Lost Tribe refer to?
This was a specific cohort of YP that were difficult to engage with in Salford.  An example was given 
to illustrate this.  A YP who had been placed outside of the LA and who as a consequence was 
stressed because they had been a carer for their parent and were very worried because they had 
been removed from the area. This had an extra negative impact on the YP.  In this case, under the 
new model, the support would have been provided around the YP at home.  

 What are the criteria for short term and medium term beds?
Exact time limits had not been set as that could become too prescriptive and the purpose was to 
move away from that type of approach to a more YP centred approach. 

 How do we make sure the YP does not return and that it is not just a revolving door?
Providing the right support for each YP was key.  A speech and language support review was 
usually the first step taken so that the YP is supported in terms of communication.  The same team 
that supports the YP in the Hub would also support them when they left.

 How do we ensure the best use of resources?
80% of the provision was done by Outreach.  There was also work being done to look at providing 
adult worker support for parents.

 A member commented that they supported this approach and that it had been needed for so long as 
it had been service led previously and a YP centred, flexible approach was welcomed.

 The Route 29 Hub was available 24 hours 365 day a year.  The DfE was looking to provide more 
funding for this approach.

 North Yorkshire LA were one of the first adopters and had received outstanding judgements in their 
inspections and Salford was sharing their best practice.

 Has North Yorkshire been able to reduce its number of children’s homes?

Page 2



3

North Yorkshire no longer had individual children’s homes and had two hubs.  It had also benefited 
from building the resilience in staff and it had proved to be a very good decision in terms of the 
outcomes for their YP.

 Will the Hub in Salford link with existing homes?
Yes and the training offer for the Hub staff was available to care home staff as well and this would 
also help matching YP to placements in a home if one was needed.

 What is the plan for moving from current practice to future practice and what is happening with 
longer term support?
The Early Years Outreach Team was not currently available on a 24 hour basis.  If a family needed 
to re-engage in the future the plan was that the family would immediately get back in touch with the 
Hub rather than being processed through the system again.

 What about those families that may need the support again in the future but, for whatever reason, 
do not get back in touch with the Hub themselves?
The current outreach would be reviewed across all services in January to assess how YP and 
families could access services more easily and directly.

 How does we ensure YP and families do not become too dependent on services?
The Hub was about the development of a strength based model – building on the strengths of the 
YP and their families and helping families to advocate for themselves, for example a parent ringing 
up a clinical psychologist directly if they needed a refresher/extra help if their YP had a period of 
further challenging behaviour.

 What is the involvement of the Youth Service?
When a YP identified as needing Youth Service support they often specifically referred to having 
access to a Youth Worker for lower level support for someone to talk to.

 A member commented that Eccles College successfully used youth workers as mentors and this 
also provided useful information about YP and the best way to work with them to help them avoid 
displaying challenging behaviours.

 The approach was about moving away from service dependency to maintaining helpful links with 
services. 

 What happens in areas of Salford where there is no/limited access to youth services and activities? 
Can this lead to family breakdowns?
Consideration was given to whether or not the right YP were being put into care in the first place.  
The focus had to be on matching the YP to the right keyworker.  Keyworkers would have a low 
caseload so they could devote the time necessary to the YPs in question. There would also be a 
more robust offer to foster carers so they had links into the Hub and its services so that placements 
were less likely to break down.

 What areas are without youth services?
Access to youth services would be reviewed and a mapping exercise would be needed so the 
impact on YPs and families could be assessed, gaps could be identified so they could be addressed 
and this would support prevention of family breakdowns.

 Services currently operate on a 9-5, 5 day a week basis so how do we move to being more flexible 
so out YP can access what they need to when they need to?
A culture change was required and this would involve removing structures that were barriers to YP 
and listening to what YP were saying in this regard.  This approach was part of the recruitment 
process for new specialist staff when they were being recruited. It was important that managers 
supported their staff with the approach for the culture change to happen. The recruitment processes 
for Route 29 were very robust and different methods were being used to make sure that people who 
fit the Route 29 model were being appointed. YP would also be involved directly in the processes.

 What about the management of risk?
A consistent approach to the implementation of a comprehensive training package was needed 
across the whole workforce.  The focus needed to be on breaking down risk and understanding the 
lived experience of YP and families and a shared approach to the management of risk.  The 
permissions for this approach needed to come from senior management.

Page 3



4

 A member commented that it was a good approach if the impact meant bringing YP back to live in 
Salford where the outcomes for them could be monitored by the council.

 Do we have any unregulated provision in Salford?
Salford had a very effective commissioning team so members could be very confident that 
unregulated placements would not be used.

 The new approach using Route 29 was more like real life – safe uncertainty and a members’ 
comments supported the move to this way of working.

RESOLVED:  THAT the panel thanked Sayma Khan and Zoe Fearon for the informative presentation 
and questions and answer session and requested copies of the Ofsted inspection reports for the North 
Yorkshire and Wigan LA Hubs.

4. THE WORK PROGRAMME
 What happens to the Spotlight Reviews we have carried out as a panel and how can the public 

access them and see what we are doing?
The reviews were accessible on the Salford City Council website.  The Spotlight Reports a/Reviews 
were presented to the service leaders and the senior managers would report back to the scrutiny 
panel on their response to the panel’s reports.  The reports were also presented to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Board and to the City Mayor for their comments.

 Concern was expressed by a number of the members at the meeting that they could not locate the 
reports on the city council website.  Members requested that the clerk sent the link to the panel’s 
reports on the city council website.

 There was a detailed discussion about the role of the panel and evaluating the impact of its work, 
which included:
o how effective was the panel;
o how would/should the impact of the work of the panel be assessed;
o reports in future would be presented to the full council and would contain officers’ commentary 

on any actions taken as a result of the reports and their recommendations;
o feedback from officers needed to be timely;
o how was the work of the panel being generally highlighted.

 The clerk highlighted that support for scrutiny was currently an area of focus for Committee Services 
and she would raise the members’ comments at the next development session for consideration.

 The members agreed that it was important to review the impact of Route 29 following its 
implementation and requested that a progress report on Route 29 should be on the agenda for the 
June 2020 meeting and to include an update on the support provided for parenting skills.

 The members agreed to reschedule the meeting due to be held on 11th December 2019 to 
Wednesday 8th January 2020 at 2pm, because of the General Election on 12th December

RESOLVED:  THAT the clerk would send the link to the scrutiny panel’s reports on the city council 
website to the members and would raise the comments from their discussion on the role and impact of 
the panel for consideration at the next Committee Services development session where support for the 
scrutiny function was being considered. 

5. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 9th OCTOBER 2019

Amendment:  Page 4, bullet point 4, 2nd sentence should read:
This was because of the focus on decreasing the use of independent foster carers and with a view to 
reducing placements outside of Salford. 
 
RESOLVED: THAT the minutes of the meeting held on 9th October 2019 were approved as a true and 
correct record.

Page 4



5

6. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 9th OCTOBER 
2019
There were no matters arising.

7. DATE AND TIME OF THE NEXT MEETING
The next meeting would be held on Wednesday 8th January 2020 at 2pm in Committee Room 2.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

September 2019 Update 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Salford Transition Policy  

Key Stage 2 to Key Stage 3 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4b



 
 

2 
 

 

 

 

 

Contents 
Page 3  Introduction 

Page 4  Effective Transition in Salford 

Page 5  Packages for transition 

Page 6  Definition of each package 

Page 7  The universal, 1 and 2 transition package process timeline 

Page 8  The Transition 3 process timeline 

Page 9  Universal Package: Advice and guidance for transition support for all 

children 

Page 10 Universal Plus Package 1: Targeted support for learners with some levels 

of vulnerability 

Page 11 Universal Plus Package 2: Targeted support for learners with more levels 

of vulnerability 

Page 12  Universal Plus Package 3: Specialist support 

 

 

 

 

Page 13  Appendix 1: Recommendations and suggestions - How to prepare pupils 

for secondary school 

Page 15  Appendix 2: Face to Face conversation template 

Page 17  Appendix 3: One page profile example – edit as needed 

Page 18  Appendix 4:  Salford Transition Project Summary Report 

Page 22  Appendix 5: The Local Offer 

 

                             

 

 

 

Page 8



 
 

3 
 

Introduction 

The Salford Transition draft policy has been developed from consultation with primary and 
secondary school representatives across the city as well as professionals from a range of 
agencies. This document is a guide for everyone supporting pupils with transition from primary 
to secondary. The audience for this policy includes staff at all Salford primary schools, staff at all 
Salford secondary schools, parents/carers of all Salford pupils and all agencies involved in 
primary to secondary transition. In addition, this policy will help ensure all educational settings in 
Salford are meeting statutory legislations for inclusion and equality as stated in the Children and 
Families Act.  

This transition policy is underpinned by the ethos that early intervention is a proactive approach 
to meeting the needs of young people in the city and through early investment in the young 
people greater gains will be seen throughout. Furthermore, it is a ‘living’ document and may be 
amended or adapted to reflect changes in need across Salford or in education.  

 

Salford’s Vision 

The Salford transition policy document ensures that every child and their family are entitled to a 

consistent and effective transition as they transfer between primary and secondary schools. 

Transition planning will take into account the whole child and ensure that all agencies involved 

are working collaboratively to ensure the best outcome for the child and their family.  

 

 

Aims 

To ensure that all children in Salford have consistent, quality and inclusive transition experiences 

in order to enhance their well-being and performance as learners. 

 

Information sharing 

In order for an effective transition to take place, adequate planning and provision needs to be 

made, as a result sensitive information will need to be shared with the child’s new school. This 

can be both verbal and non-verbal and will be documented by the new school. Informed consent 

of the parent/carer for this information to be shared should usually be obtained in the primary 

setting when a child joins the school. The school document should make clear what information 

is to be shared, with whom and what purpose it serves. A privacy notice must be distributed to 

parents of existing primary school children to inform them of data sharing involving their child 

between the primary and secondary school. Therefore information outlining why a child may be 

vulnerable to finding transition challenging can be shared with the appropriate educational 

settings and agencies. Some families may need to open an Early Help Assessment in order to 

gain the best support possible for the child’s transition. If an Early Help Assessment is already 

open during Year 5 or 6, transition arrangements should already be included.  

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 9



 
 

4 
 

 

Effective transition in Salford 

 

In order for effective transition in schools in Salford the following actions are required; 

 

 Consent for information sharing obtained from parent/carer should usually be obtained in 

the primary setting when a child joins the school. 

 

 Open day/evenings allocated on different dates at all secondary schools to allow parents 

to attend more than one.  

 

 Secondary schools will have a Year 7 or Transition section on their website that contains 

information such as uniform, equipment, behaviour policy or expectations, key dates and 

events etc. 

 

 Key dates shared and easily accessed on school websites. 

 

 Secondary school application deadline 31st October  

o Parents/carers have access and support to complete the online admissions form 

from gateway centres and primary schools should they require it. 

 

 Three induction days for all Year 6 children held on Wednesday, Thursday and Friday, 

the same week, across Salford (In 2020: Wednesday-Friday 1st – 3rd July) 

 

 Basic transfer of information (Transition information gathering spreadsheet) to be 

completed by the primary school by February Half Term and sent to 

helen.nicolle@salford.gov.uk. This information will be collated and shared with secondary 

schools once places allocated (1st March). The LA transition coordinator will collect this 

information from primary schools and distribute to secondary schools. 

 

 ‘Face to face’ meetings (or phone call conversations for small numbers of pupils) to take 

place between primary and secondary colleagues in March and April  to share information 

about individual pupils highlighted as needing additional transition support. 

 

 Accessible information to be provided to parents/carers by primary and secondary 

schools about the transition process  including: 

-The role of the parent/carer during transition 

-The role of the primary school 

-The role of the Secondary school 

-Transition Timeline for children and parent/carer 

-Key dates for events 

 

 Ensure effective pupil tracking and transferring of information to support continued 

progress e.g. best piece of independent writing, most recent maths book etc. 

 

 Common Basic Data Set, maintained for every child, in a school’s management 

information system transferred from the primary to secondary school using a Common 

Transfer File in the summer term. (Statutory Obligation for all maintained schools)  

Page 10

mailto:helen.nicolle@salford.gov.uk


 
 

5 
 

 

Packages for transition 

Through thorough research and reviewing of existing policies we have defined packages of 

support for pupils during transition from year 6 to year 7. Children can go straight in at any level 

and do not necessarily access the package of support previously. For example a child on an 

EHCP would go straight in to Transition 3; they would not need to access Transition 1 and 2 

first. The decision to place a child on a package for transition should be made during the ‘Face 

to Face’ information sharing discussion (appendix 1) unless the pupil has an EHCP or is LAC, 

in which case additional transition arrangements will be undertaken earlier (Transition 3). It is 

important to discuss individual transition needs with parents and pupils in order to ensure the 

pupils receive the most appropriate support, particularly if pupils need more than universal 

transition support. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transition 
3

Transition 1

Transition 
2

 Universal 

Transition 

          
Universal: Advice and guidance for 

transition for every child in Salford. 

Transition 1: Need for some targeted 

help for a successful transition. 

Transition 2: Need for more targeted 

help for a successful transition. 

Transition 3: Need for individualised 

specialist help for successful transition.  

Page 11



 
 

6 
 

 

Definition of each package 

Universal:  To ensure a fully integrated approach the Transition levels are immersed within 

the Universal framework.  The Universal offer is aimed at every child in Salford Education 
and is designed to promote effective transition.  
 
Transition 1: All universal packages should still be fully offered to these children plus 
additional support. This stage is focused on children with some levels of vulnerability; 
concerns about these children would usually be raised by the Y6 teacher to the Secondary 
transition lead during the Face to Face information sharing meeting. This is aimed at children 
who are not accessing any formal support and seem to be coping in the primary setting but 
may experience more than the usual difficulty at transition. Examples would be a child who 
has low self-esteem, a child who becomes particularly anxious in new or social situations, 
experienced a recent upset within the family such as bereavement or loss, a young carer, a 
child receiving SEN support who does not have an EHCP. Transition 1 would help any pupils 
going out of their area for year 7. 
This level of transition support requires an increased vigilance, monitoring and a cascade of 
information to relevant staff.  
 
Transition 2: Again universal packages should still be fully accessible to children on package 
2 alongside a more detailed planned package and additional support opportunities. This stage 
has a more focused approach on children with more levels of vulnerability. This stage will 
require additional liaison and transition support such as extra visits, a key worker, careful 
consideration of unstructured times, and maybe additional training for staff.  
Children who are frequent users of the behaviour policy, children who have previously had a 
Team around the Child or been at Children In Need, children who have accessed a Pupil 
Referral Unit (PRU), children who have displayed a significant response to bereavement and 
loss, children who have SEN who does not have an EHCP but receives significant school 
intervention, children who have experienced trauma such as domestic violence or come from 
areas of war or experienced significant events such as Manchester arena bombing are all 
examples of children who may need this level of support.  
At this level a designated member of staff from both primary and secondary would need to 
carefully co-ordinate, monitor and cascade information to relevant staff. 
Transition 3: This stage is aimed at children with severe, complex and/or persistent levels 
of vulnerability. This is specialist support so will require additional support from other 
agencies within Salford. There is a deeper challenge to provide effective transition at this 
stage because there is a greater need for collaborative planning, integrated support, multi-
agency communication and preparation from both the primary and secondary staff to make 
appropriate provision. Children who have an Educational Health Care Plan (EHCP), are 
provided care by the Looked After Children (LAC) team, are on a Child Protection (CP) plan, 
a Children In Need (CIN) plan or have been permanently excluded and are currently attend a 
pupil referral unit at the end of year 6 are all examples of children who may need this level of 
specialist support. At this level other agencies should also be involved in designing and 
implementing an appropriate transition a designated member of staff from both primary and 
secondary would need to carefully co-ordinate, monitor and cascade information to relevant 
staff. 
 

Note: Parents and pupils views should be considered when deciding whether a pupil 

needs to have a transition package in place. 

 

  

Page 12



 
 

7 
 

The universal, 1 and 2 transition package process timeline 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Transition 3 process timeline 

Year 7, implement the transition plan throughout the Autumn term: 

 Key staff ensure all relevant secondary staff are aware of the arrangements for transition 1 

and 2 plans 

 Key staff Monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the  plan and amend as needed 

 Regular communication with parents/carers and pupils. 

 

Review of transition plan by October half term of Year 7: 

 Continued tracking of both academic and pastoral transition. 

 Feedback gained from pupil and parent/carer. 

Year 6, implement the transition plan throughout June and July: 

 Key staff monitor and evaluate the plan regularly, amending as necessary, particularly for 

transition 1 and 2 plans. 

 Regular communication between primary and secondary staff, parents/carers and pupils. 

Year 6, Once secondary place is allocated (Early June): 

 Share information during the Face to Face information sharing meeting. Appendix 3 

 Gather the views of parents/carers and pupils as appropriate 

 Design a suitable and realistic transition plan (universal,1 or 2) 

 Three transition days for all, additional for individuals as needed 

By February Half Term: 

 Send information gathering excel spreadsheet to LA transition coordinator  

helen.nicolle@salford.gov.uk   (information will be processed and shared by LA with 

relevant secondary schools once places are allocated)*** Embed excel here** to include: 

name, DOB, address, EAL, Asylum seeker, refugee, CIN, CP, attendance, SEN, current 

attainment, transition package required 

 

 

Page 13

mailto:helen.nicolle@salford.gov.uk


 
 

8 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Early Identification of vulnerable students (Year 5). Discussions to be held at: 

 LAC professionals meetings 

 CP plan 

 Annual review of Education Health Care Plan (EHCP) 

 

Develop a transition plan: 

 Gather information from school staff, other agencies, children and parents/carers, to 

produce an effective and realistic transition plan. 

 If a FAF (CAF) is already in place, this will become a useful document for reference. 

 Any professional meetings for LAC pupils, invite desired secondary schools from year 5 

onwards. 

 

Year 7, Implementing the transition plan: 

 A continuous monitoring and evaluation of the plan needs to take place by key staff, 

incorporating planned strategies and support.  

Review of transition plan by October half term of Year 7: 

 Continued tracking of both academic and pastoral transition, consistent monitoring and 

feedback gained by primary schools, pupil, parent/carer. 

Year 6, Once secondary place is allocated, implement the transition plan: 

 A continuous monitoring and evaluation of the plan needs to take place by key staff, 

incorporating planned strategies and support.  

Page 14



 
 

9 
 

 

 

 

Minimum requirements for all pupils in Salford: 

 Parent/carer and student able to attend open evenings of all Salford secondary schools. 

 Primary schools to assist families in Year 6 who may need additional support in completing 

an online school application form before the deadline of the 31st October.  

 Parent/carer and student able to state a preference of secondary schools. (With awareness 

they may not be successful in gaining a place at their priority 1 choice school). 

 Information gathering sheet to be sent to the LA transition coordinator by 1st May  

 Information to be transferred to relevant secondary schools by Local Authority after a 

student’s place has been confirmed by the Local Authority. 

 Face to Face meeting between primary and secondary transition team staff to gather further 

information during early June, this information should then be cascaded by the secondary 

transition team to relevant staff. 

 Minimum of a 3 day induction package for Year 6 children. (consider inviting Y6 staff to attend 

some of the days) 

 

Recommended / best practice actions for a successful transition at this package drawn 

from current good practice in Salford; 

 Year 5/6 invited to attend partner secondary school drama/music productions. 

 Year 5/6 tour of partner secondary school accompanied by question & answer sessions with 

current Y7 students. 

 1 day Year 5 induction programme at partner secondary school. 

 Members of the primary and secondary school transition team to work collaboratively in 

hosting a Year 5 parent/carer and student information evening delivered in the primary setting 

for preparation of transition to secondary school, including how to submit applications. This 

could include distribution of information leaflets. 

 Secondary school welcome pack for parents/carer and student. 

 Welcome evening/meet the form tutor (assign tutor before the induction days) hosted by the 

secondary schools delivered in the secondary setting.  

 Peer mentors assigned to each Year 7 form group e.g. year 10 mentor 

 Cross-phase curriculum activities (e.g. joint Year 6 and Year 7 enterprise project) 

 Transition activity/discussion time held during Year 6 and 7 PSHCE time. 

 Year 6 or year 7 residential activity with the high school. 

 Academic work pack developed by all Year 6 students sent over to secondary school at the 

end of the final term (e.g. last English and maths book, best piece of art work etc.). 

 Year 6 complete a ‘this is me’ booklet to use on the first transition day, which can be shared 

with peers and form tutor.  

 Year 7s visit their primary schools and meet with the year 6 pupils.  

 Refer to supporting documents for specific needs from LSS and EMTAS 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/special-

educational-needs/learning-support-service/ 

 

Universal Package: 

Advice and guidance for transition support for all children 

 

 

 

Page 15

https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/special-educational-needs/learning-support-service/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/special-educational-needs/learning-support-service/


 
 

10 
 

 

 

 

This package focuses on students with some levels of vulnerability such as students who may 

become anxious in new environments, may have experienced bereavement and loss, a recent 

upset in the family, struggles to form friendships and so on. This package would also include 

those pupils who are transitioning to a secondary school on their own (no primary school peers 

attending the secondary school) young carer and previous LAC status pupils*. 

Recommendations at this package include all elements of the universal offer plus some or all of 

the below, tailored to meet specific needs; 

 Additional transition visit before the 3 day universal induction programme. 

 Individualised plan to identify student strengths and needs.  

 Assign a buddy system with a current year 7, regular contact with this buddy through final 

term of Year 6. 

 Visit with Year 7 form tutor before September. 

 Student 1-1 tour of the school with Head of Year 7 and parent/carer.  

 Pastoral support and nurture sessions offered in Year 6 and Year 7. 

 Parents/carers invited to additional coffee mornings in Year 6 and Year 7. 

 Regular contact from Head of Year 7/pastoral key worker with parent/carer throughout Year 

7. 

 One page profile/passport for the pupil shared with all staff. 

 Continuing to refer to support documents and checklists for specific learning needs from 

Learning support services (https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-

parents-students-and-teachers/special-educational-needs/learning-support-service/), where 

relevant. 

 Access support from EMTAS within The Local Offer (https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-

and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/ethnic-minorities-and-travellers/emtas-

and-referral-form/ ), where relevant. 

 

 

 

*NOTE: Pupil Premium + funding is available for post LAC pupils, however primary schools are 

not able to share this information, adoptive parents have a choice as to whether or not they 

wish to inform the school. Primary schools should alert parents to this.   

 

 

  

Universal Plus Package 1: 

Targeted support for learners with some levels 

of vulnerability 

 

 

 

Page 16

https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/special-educational-needs/learning-support-service/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/special-educational-needs/learning-support-service/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/ethnic-minorities-and-travellers/emtas-and-referral-form/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/ethnic-minorities-and-travellers/emtas-and-referral-form/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/ethnic-minorities-and-travellers/emtas-and-referral-form/


 
 

11 
 

 

 

 

 

This package focuses on students with higher levels of vulnerability. Students, who may be under 

social care, have displayed additional educational needs in primary school and/or have 

experienced bereavement or loss. 

 

Recommendations at this package include all elements of the universal offer plus; 

 Earlier transition visits on a more frequent basis. 

 Small group sessions with secondary SENCo/ behaviour manager 

 More visits from secondary key workers to primary setting 

 Seek advice and help from targeted support agencies/make referrals (see service directory). 

 Nurture groups/interventions on a weekly basis. 

 Secondary to attend any relevant meetings including FAM during year 6 or earlier. 

 Key secondary staff to have 1-1 meeting with parents/carers 

 Resources fully stocked. 

 Key worker assigned with daily check-ins i.e. form tutor. 

 Peer mentoring/buddy system. 

 Support during unstructured times. 

 1-1 meeting with parents/carers, regular contact maintained throughout year 6 & year 7. 

 Make reasonable adjustments based on the need of the child, where relevant.  

 One page profile/passport for the pupil shared with all staff. 

 Continuing to refer to support documents and checklists for specific learning needs from 

Learning support services (https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-

parents-students-and-teachers/special-educational-needs/learning-support-service/), where 

relevant. 

 Access support from EMTAS within The Local Offer (https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-

and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/ethnic-minorities-and-travellers/emtas-

and-referral-form/ ), where relevant. 

 Arrange a consultation meeting with the School Co-ordinator regarding learner’s transition. 

If no social care involvement then an Early Help Assessment may be completed with the 

whole family to identify support needs for the learner and any other identified areas of need, 

as well as areas of strengths. In the October of the new term, the School Co-ordinator will 

lead a ‘pastoral transition meeting’ ensuring all needs of the learner are being met. 

 For pupils known to Alder Brook and/or the PIT team, contact the Transition lead. The role 

of the Transition Lead, working within the Primary Inclusion Team, is to facilitate a 

successful transition for vulnerable children in to Year 7.  These children will have been 

referred to the Primary Inclusion Team in Upper KS2 or will be transitioning from Alder 

Brook. The Transition Lead will work with primary and secondary schools to ensure 

effective support is in place for pupils and staff, in order to reduce FTE and PEX for this 

group. 

Universal Plus Package 2: 

Targeted support for learners with more levels 

of vulnerability 

 

 

 

Page 17

https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/special-educational-needs/learning-support-service/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/special-educational-needs/learning-support-service/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/ethnic-minorities-and-travellers/emtas-and-referral-form/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/ethnic-minorities-and-travellers/emtas-and-referral-form/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/info-for-parents-students-and-teachers/ethnic-minorities-and-travellers/emtas-and-referral-form/


 
 

12 
 

 

 

 

This package focuses on students who require specialist targeted support such as students 

who are LAC or have an EHCP. 

Recommendations at this package include all elements of the universal offer plus; 

 LAC transition programme 

 SEN transition support from discussions with appropriate agencies 

 Regular visits to secondary school from 2nd term Year 6 

 Where applicable early identification of named school 

 TA/pastoral support-key worker identified and a relationship built with the student 

before transition 

 A relevant identified individual to attend review meetings. 

 Additional interventions/support clubs 

 External agency support, see services directory 

 1-1 meeting with parents/carers, regular contact maintained throughout year 6 & 

year 7 

 Make reasonable adjustments based on the need of the child, where relevant.  

 More detailed One page profile shared with all secondary staff 

 Educational Psychologist’s transition event 

 Primary SENCO to maintain the link with the secondary SENDCO into the autumn 

term of Y& to ensure continuity and links with parents. 

 For pupils known to Alder Brook and/or the PIT team: contact the Transition lead. 

The role of the Transition Lead, working within the Primary Inclusion Team, is to 

facilitate a successful transition for vulnerable children in to Year 7.  These children 

will have been referred to the Primary Inclusion Team in Upper KS2 or will be 

transitioning from Alder Brook. The Transition Lead will work with primary and 

secondary schools to ensure effective support is in place for pupils and staff, in 

order to reduce FTE and PEX for this group. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Universal Plus Package 3: 

Specialist support 

 

 

Page 18



 
 

13 
 

Appendix 1 

Recommendations and suggestions to prepare pupils for Secondary school 

Discussion with professionals have highlighted that the preparations for secondary school need 
to begin as early as possible in Key stage 2 and that good relationships between the primary and 
secondary schools are paramount. The following examples and recommendations are taken from 
current good practice in Salford. 

In Year 4 and 5; 

- Primary school children access specialist resources and facilities at secondary schools 

(e.g. science, ICT and PE facilities etc.); 

- Secondary specialists, transition leads and primary leads work alongside primary 

colleagues to deliver the primary curriculum and develop a shared understanding of 

expectations in Key Stage 2 as well as foster positive relationships; 

- Cross phase training if appropriate. 

In Year 6; 

- Send out parent and pupil questionnaire (see appendix) for feedback ahead of transition 

to secondary school. Refer to the feedback when planning transition intervention and 

support around the year 6 pupils; 

- Maths activities around reading time tables and schedules; 

- Comprehension based around secondary school information packs/ website i.e. school 

rules and expectations; 

- Map reading skills; 

- Transition workbook; 

- Develop further independence such as each pupil having personal stationary sets and 

school bags to be lesson ready; 

- Homework diaries are used, signed by parents and collected in on a certain day; 

- Transitioning around school independently (e.g. playtimes, lunchtimes, assemblies, PE 

in the hall etc.); 

- Wearing a formal shirt and tie as part of the school uniform; 

- Summer schools 

- Cross phase teaching to develop a shared understanding of expectations in Key Stage 2 

and Year 7, so primary children can experience a change of staff and foster positive 

relationships; 

- Cross phase training. 

- Pupils to be encouraged to access BBC Bitesize resources: 

https://www.bbc.co.uk/bitesize/tags/zh4wy9q/starting-secondary-school/1  

- Secondary transition leads/heads of year 7 subject leaders to work with Y6 pupils in the 

primary schools to get to know them and be a ‘familiar face’ in the first few weeks in 

secondary. 

- Secondary schools to provide Y6 pupils with summer homework to prepare them for 

subjects taught in year 7.  

- Gather pupil views around how effective transition practices have been for them to inform 

future plans. 

 

Page 19

https://www.bbc.co.uk/bitesize/tags/zh4wy9q/starting-secondary-school/1


 
 

14 
 

In year 7; 

- Staff to have an awareness of where the pupils are in their understanding of secondary 

school expectations e.g. in class promptly, making their way around the building, coats 

off inside etc. 

- Spend time teaching personal organisation skills e.g. packing your bag to be lesson 

ready, tying a tie, map reading, organising homework etc. 

- Activities to encourage positive friendships e.g. team building  

- Time planned in possibly during Tutor sessions for check-ins and discussing secondary 

school expectations;  

- Website to support year 7 parents and pupils with key information such as quantity of 

homework, time tables, PE kit checklist, stationary checklist, topics being covered (e.g. 

share medium/long term plans) in core and foundation subjects, key dates and trips; 

- Cross phase teaching during the autumn term to ensure pupils are building on previous 

academic work (primary colleagues teaching in secondary settings)  

- Mapping Key Stage 3 schemes of work to take into account the curriculum coverage in 

Key Stage 2; 

- Cross phase training. 

- Gather pupil views around how effective transition practices have been for them to inform 

future plans. 

- Y6 staff to visit Y7 pupils after first few weeks in Year 7. Pastoral, celebratory activities. 

The support given to a child in a primary setting may differ to the support that a child requires 
when they transition to secondary school. In a few cases the transition to high school may ‘trigger 
‘the need for addition support where previously no support had been required.  

EMTAS Mobile Children 
There are a number of children in the City who are more likely to be mobile at various points 
throughout the year than others; examples of these include: asylum seekers/refugees, Gypsy 
Roma Travellers, children of foreign students. Some of these children leave the area/country for 
specific periods and then return to the same school a few months later or start at a different 
school. These children are at risk of missing out on many transition activities and visits and 
schools need to have arrangements in place to offer catch up activities/visits to ensure a positive 
transition. 

  
  

Gypsy Roma Traveller children 
Gypsy Roma and Traveller children are statistically much less likely to make a successful transfer 
to secondary school than other children. In order to try and address this, positive transition 
activities, including outreach into the community needs to take place at the start of key stage 2. 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 20



 
 

15 
 

Appendix 2 

Transition information gathering form- Face to Face Conversation 

Template 

This template should be completed by secondary colleagues during the face to face 

conversation which should take place   
 

Primary School name: Click here to enter text. 

 Name Email address Main 

contact 

Year 6 teacher Click here to enter 

text. 
Click here to enter text. ☐ 

SENCo Click here to enter 

text. 
Click here to enter text. ☐ 

Safeguarding/family 

liaison 

Click here to enter 

text. 
Click here to enter text. ☐ 

Other key staff: 

 

Click here to enter 

text. 
Click here to enter text. ☐ 

 

Please tell us about your pupils as a class group.  What works well for them?  What should we 

avoid?  Are there any triggers for problems with the class? Are there any significant situations 

to be aware of or any friendship group issues?   

Click here to enter text. 

Please complete individual forms below for those pupils that will require a higher level of 

support at transition. 

  

Page 21



 
 

16 
 

Individual child information form 
This form should be used to record conversations about any pupils identified as needing 

additional support at transition 

Name of child:  Click here to enter text.   Date of birth: Click here to enter text. 

Primary School attended: Click here to enter text. 

Main areas of concern: (select all that apply) 

Attendance: ☐  English as an additional language ☐ 
Behaviour ☐  Social interactions e.g. 

friendships 
☐ 

Attitude to learning ☐  Home situation, including social 
care involvement, young carer 

☐ 

Learning needs, including 
physical and medical needs 

☐
  

 Other significant events e.g. 
bereavement and loss 

☐ 

Emotional health and well-
being (including 
neurodevelopmental conditions 
e.g. ADHD, autism) 

☐    

 

Please click on the arrow to complete only the relevant sections based on the 

above choices: 

Attendance: 

Behaviour: 

Attitude to learning: 

Learning needs: 

Emotional health and well-being: 

English as an additional language: 

Social interactions: 

Home situation: 

Other significant events  

Targeted support 

Page 22



 
 

17 
 

Appendix 3 

*example* - One page profile – edit as needed 

 

Pupil voice 
I like… 
 
I need….. 
 
I don’t like…. 

 
 
 
 

photo 

Parent voice – What I want to you know about my child: 
 

Strategies that work to support me 
- 
 
- 
 
- 
 
- 
 

Calm 
Quiet, 
Responding positively, 
Answering questions 

Anxious 
Tapping,  
Head down 
quiet 

Crisis 
Threatening, 
Damaging,  
Shouting, 

Calming 
Quiet, 
Tired,  
Head down 

Praise, 
Clear recognition, 
Thumbs up 

Praise,  
Repeat instructions 1:1, 
Time to process 

Directed to time out,  
Supported for time out 
and space, 
Offer support, 

Offer support, 
monitor,  
Space and time,  
Return to class when 
ready 

Personal targets 
I will ask for help by putting my hand up and waiting for an adult to respond. 
 
I will use kind words towards others. 
 
I will use time out strategy when I am feeling frustrated. 

Personal strategies 
Breathe and count to 10 
 
Zip it, lock it, pocket 
 
Ask for adult support / ask for exit pass 

External agencies involved: 
 
 

P
age 23



 
 

18 
 

Appendix 4 

 

 

 
Salford Transition Project Summary Report 

Date: July 2018 

Schools 
Visited: 

A sample of five secondary schools were visited across the 
authority. We would like to express our thanks and 
appreciation to all those who took part. 

Purpose: To gather information from different secondary schools in Salford 
about how they organise transition from primary schools 

 

 

Findings: 

• All of the schools visited have well-established links with their main feeder primary schools and 
have established visits to meet the Y6 pupils who are planning to come to their school. These 
visits focus mainly on answering pupils’ questions about what it is like in secondary school. The 
pupils found these visits helpful and welcomed the opportunity to have the information provided 
by the ‘visitor’ from the secondary school. A particularly effective feature is when a secondary 
Y7 pupil returns to their primary school to talk to the pupils about their experience of transition. 

• Some schools go well beyond the focus on Y6 pupils: Induction Leaders visit primary schools 
to meet pupils in Years 4 and 5. This leads to a greater depth of knowledge and understanding 
of the most vulnerable pupils in particular. In some cases it allowed an opportunity for a 
relationship to be established not only with the child but also with a parent or guardian and the 
Induction Leader. Focused observations within lessons are used to identify strategies that could 
be used by secondary teachers to help the most vulnerable pupils to make progress, and 
barriers to learning can also be identified.   It is not clear whether such extended contact is 
used as effectively to help the secondary schools consider what might be the best support for 
other groups of pupils, for example the most able.  

• However, where pupils come from primary schools which are not the main feeder schools, it is 
strategically difficult for such visits to take place. The secondary schools visited do attempt to 
support such pupils with the chance to ‘make up’ some of the missed contact by providing 
additional induction time for pupils.  In general this is half a day, but the schools acknowledge 
this does not make up the ‘shortfall’. It was clear in the small sample of pupils I met, there were 
two who would have benefitted from more extended induction time than was possible.  In both 
cases the final decision about which secondary school the pupil would attend was made late 
and there was little the secondary school could have done to make the transition work better 
than it did.  In these cases the pupil took longer to settle into the secondary school and a lot of 
support was needed to help them, and their parents, get through what proved to be a difficult 
transition.  

Page 24



 
 

19 
 

• In all of the schools part of the induction programme includes visits by secondary subject 
teachers to primary schools where they either teach, or team-teach with the primary teacher, 
some aspect of the subject.  In some of the schools the pupils have a similar experience but it 
is located in the secondary school. In the discussions with pupils it was the latter lessons that 
stood out for them.  They had vivid recollections of some of the lessons they had experienced, 
particularly in science and drama. They spoke of the excitement this created about the thought 
of coming to the secondary school. 

• Another part of the induction programme invariably includes visits to the secondary school. 
Most pupils spoke really positively about these days.  They enjoyed meeting new people:  their 
new class mates as well as the teachers. They found the lessons exciting and were, in most 
cases, amazed by the size of the school and the range of resources it has.  The realisation 
happened quickly that they were about to become the smallest fish in the very big pond. They 
heard many stories about what the new pupils would have to endure at the hands of the older 
ones.  Most took these stories with a pinch of salt.  Quite disturbing to hear was that some 
pupils had been ‘warned’ about the secondary school teachers by those at the primary school. 
This sounded somewhat threatening. 

• There were mixed views about the quality of the information that was provided by the primary 
schools about pupils. Where there were long-established practices the information was 
generally sufficient and reliable.  However, there were some concerns that the information 
rarely identified clearly enough if a pupil was exhibiting poor behaviour or negative attitudes. 
This is an aspect which requires closer examination and open discussions if it is to be improved.  

• A number of secondary schools have provided a summer school to help with the transition 
process.  Those pupils who had experienced it spoke very positively about the days and the 
teachers involved talked about the very real benefits of getting to know the pupils in this more 
relaxed, informal, setting. There have been some funding issues which has meant fewer 
summer schools are running this year but most schools said they wish to run them next year.  

• The first day at secondary school was a blur for most of the pupils I spoke to.  It was interesting 
to compare their accounts of the day with what the teachers told me. Some pupils said they 
had no lessons that day when in fact they had three. Some wanted to have a map of the school 
which the teachers said had been provided.  Some didn’t recall meeting their form tutors 
whereas the teachers said they were in their form groups all morning. Nevertheless all the 
pupils said the older pupils who had helped them (usually referred to as prefects) had been 
really helpful and supportive and had made sure they didn’t get lost.  No-one was ‘set upon’ by 
the bigger pupils as they had feared, and those who had the chance enjoyed the treasure hunt 
which ended up locating the Headteacher.  

• Most secondary schools provided details of the support they provide for the most vulnerable 
pupils, often in a ‘nurture’ group. These pupils, who have usually been correctly identified by 
the primary school as being most in need of this help, often experience a more limited 
curriculum than their peers and have a space in the school which is designed to make them 
feel safe and secure. I spoke to a small number of pupils who had experienced this type of 
support.  Some have moved on from the nurture groups but expressed real gratitude for the 
support they had received at a challenging time whilst others are continuing to have a high level 
of support which they feel they still need.  

• Different approaches were taken to starting Year 7.  In one school several days are spent 
helping the pupils acclimatise and emphasising the skills and attitudes that are needed to be 
successful in the new setting.  This seems to pay dividends certainly from the perspective of 
the pupils in this context. In another school the view it taken that it is right to get the pupils used 
to the usual school routines as quickly as possible. The pupils in this school liked that approach.      

• The pupils were generally of the view that the secondary teachers didn’t know anything about 

Page 25



 
 

20 
 

the work they had done in primary school, and they didn’t expect that they should! They 
accepted that secondary schools need to test them as soon as, or even before, they started at 
the school.  One girl was particularly disappointed that the secondary school didn’t know how 
good she is at maths and put her in a bottom set where the pupils messed about and prevented 
her from getting on well in a subject she loves.  In the end, after two and a half terms, she has 
got it sorted out, but it has been hard work! A boy made the interesting observation that in 
history they had studied the same historical mystery and although much of the information was 
the same, the approach taken had been different. In the secondary school the topic was treated 
much more like a crime case to be solved.  He enjoyed that. 

• No pupils mentioned taking pieces of work that they had completed in their primary to their 
secondary school. 

• Transition can be a testing time for parents, particularly for those whose children needing extra 
support.  The parents of such pupils welcome the opportunity to get to know, both formally in 
meetings and informally (for example in coffee mornings), those responsible for looking after 
the needs of their children in secondary schools. Some parents acknowledged that they are 
wary of secondary schools and needed time to learn to trust the people now looking after their 
child’s education. Great skill and patience is needed by those managing induction to win over 
such parents in order to establish good communication and to ensure the right support is being 
provided for the pupils. 

• A concern emerged around a small number of pupils in different schools who were quickly 
identified at the start of Y7 as needing extra support.  The process of applying for an EHC plan 
should have been, or in one case had been, started in Y6 but had not or had not been 
completed. A minimum of two terms is, I understand, needed for this. The secondary schools 
were doing all they could to provide whatever was needed to meet the pupils’ needs but, it 
seems, without the financial resources provided.  This needs further investigation to identify 
what the issues are and how they can best be addressed.  

• The resource demands for transition are high.  The schools understood the need for this 
investment and were able to cite the many benefits accrued from getting it right. In one interview 
a number of questions were raised about the balance of the investment of time and other 
resources between primary and secondary schools in relation to transition. My discussions did 
not include primary school representatives so I am not able to comment on their views.    

 

Overall: 

A number of overarching points emerge: 

• It is vital that there are excellent relationships between primary and secondary schools which 
put the needs of the pupils at the heart of their transition strategies 

• Communication between the parents / carers of the most vulnerable pupils and the secondary 
induction leads should start as early as possible and continue as long as is needed.  It is vital 
to get this right 

• Issues relating to Y6 pupils who need an EHCP but don’t have one need to be resolved 

• The induction programme for pupils from schools other than the usual feeder primaries needs 
further consideration 

• Curriculum continuity and progression at transition needs much more attention 

• More cross-phase discussions are needed to identify the skills and routines that are 
requirements if pupils are to thrive in the secondary school environment  
(Before starting primary school his parents were told that Benjamin needs to be able to: get 

Page 26



 
 

21 
 

dressed, do up his shoes, wash his hands, complete his toilet routines, hold a pencil, know his 
full name and address, use a knife and fork.. ..what is the list for starting secondary school?). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



 
 

22 
 

Appendix 5 

The Local Offer 

https://www.salford.gov.uk/children-and-families/local-offer-for-children-and-young-people-with-

sen-or-disabilities/  

Teams within Salford who can further support pupils 

 Health – School nurse 

 Looked After Children (LAC) – Virtual School Team (VST) 

 Learning Support Services (LSS) 

 Primary Inclusion Team (PIT) 

 Speech and Language Therapy (SALT) 

 Child and Adolescence Mental Health Services (CAMHS) 

 Salford Information, Advice and Support Services (SIASS) 

 Educational Psychologist Services (EP) 

 Special Educational Needs (SEN) 

 Integrated Youth Support Service (IYSS) 

 Youth Justice Service (YJS) 

 Occupational Therapy (OT) 

 Adoption Agency 

 Early Intervention 0-25 (EIP) 

 Salford Adoptive and Families Support Services (SAFSS) 

 Ethnic Minority and Traveller Achievement Service (EMTAS) 

 Early Help Assessment and Team around the Family (TAF)  
 

What is Early Help Assessment and Team Around the Family?  
The Early Help Assessment Form and Team around the Family Meetings (TAF) are all about having 
a simple conversation with the family, to identify what is going well for them and what needs they 
might identify. 

The assessment focuses on the assets of the family and produces a smart action plan that clearly 
shows the next steps for the family, and any professionals supporting them. These actions are then 
reviewed under a Team Around the Family meeting. It is only to be completed with consent from the 
family, as it is their assessment. It is to be used at an early help level within Salford, using an asset 
based solution focused model. 

It can be completed by any professional working alongside the family. They may be working with the 
adult or child/young person in the household. 

The process aims to improve outcomes for families in Salford. Looking at what is working well, what 
are the worries and what support is needed. 

There are a number of supporting tools that professionals can download.  
For more information Tel: 0161 603 4239 or visit: www.salford.gov.uk/familyassessment 

 
i- Reach  

 
What is i-Reach? 
i-Reach is a Salford CAMHs initiative and offers additional school based support to schools who 
are part of the project. Referrals for pupils requiring additional transition support to secondary 
school can be made through a School’s Mental Health Lead. Support will be offered throughout 

Page 28

https://www.salford.gov.uk/children-and-families/local-offer-for-children-and-young-people-with-sen-or-disabilities/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/children-and-families/local-offer-for-children-and-young-people-with-sen-or-disabilities/
http://www.salford.gov.uk/familyassessment


 
 

23 
 

Year 6 and the summer holidays, if required, as well as a minimum of 3 review appointments with 
High School in Year 7. This allows for 1 meeting per term to monitor and facilitate a successful 
transition. 

Emotional health services directory 

A useful tool when looking at the services available for particular needs within a child 

 

 

 

  

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/youngemotionalhealth.htm  

Page 29

http://www.partnersinsalford.org/youngemotionalhealth.htm


This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 Part 1 - Open to the Public 
 

ITEM NO. 

 

 
 

REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S 
SERVICES  

 
 

 TO THE 
CHILDREN’S SCRUTINY PANEL 

 
ON 

 
8 January 2020

 
 
TITLE: School Provider Arm Update 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS: For the contents of this report to be noted  

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: The School Provider Arm (SPA) approach in Salford has 
developed across our primary, secondary and special schools to ensure our approach 
to school improvement builds on the strengths of our school system and leadership. The 
paper outlines how school improvement works in Salford and the key strengths and 
areas for development to ensure all of our children achieve their full potential.  
 

 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: Draft Education Strategy 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/educationstrategy 

 
 
KEY DECISION: NO 

 
 
DETAILS: 

 
1.1 Primary  
The school led system is developing within primary schools; nearly all schools now work 
within the Salford School to School Improvement Strategy, as clusters, over seen by the 
School Provider Arm (SPA) Board. The board has a representative from all clusters, 
both primary teaching schools and is chaired by the Assistant Director. Two primary 
teaching schools now support the system and their contribution is growing. Most 
clusters are effective at providing/sourcing school to school support to enable good and 
outstanding schools to maintain their outcomes. The LA lead on school improvement 
where schools are deemed to be causing local concern. The LA are striving to identify, 
train and utilise EY, KS1 and KS2 moderators in every cluster to allow for more robust 

Page 31

Agenda Item 4c

https://www.salford.gov.uk/educationstrategy


 2 

school to school moderation and sharing of good practice, this is still a work in progress, 
but all clusters currently have at least one moderator.  
  
 The ‘system’ is impacting positively on progress:  
 

 Progress in reading, writing and mathematics KS1 to KS2 has been positive, and 
above national averages, in all subjects in 2017, 2018 and 2019 (provisional)  

  
The SPA board recognise the need to further develop the work of some clusters, to 
ensure greater impact on pupils. A recent peer review has supported strategic planning. 
The LA’s current priority is to work with the SPA board to ensure that data and needs 
analysis sits at the heart of school to school improvement planning. Each cluster receive 
comprehensive data packs in order to facilitate focussed action planning. The LA needs 
to further strengthen the links between clusters, schools and system leaders, utilising 
the DfE school improvement funding available via NLEs. Relationships are good 
between the LA and system leaders and this is ensuring clarity within the system for 
schools and enhancing the LAs ability to address areas for improvement. For example, 
St Andrew’s CE Teaching School are facilitating a Science Leaders' Network at the 
request of the LA in order to improve science outcomes at KS1 and KS2.  
  
There are two teaching schools, three NLEs and six LLEs in primary schools across 
Salford. They are keen to work within and beyond their clusters/alliances but there is 
still limited uptake when commissions are not led by the LA or through DfE funding. The 
LA are working to ensure all leaders understand and utilise the capacity of system 
leaders within the city as this is not widespread currently. For example, teaching 
schools have presented to the SPA Board and at Headteacher and 
Deputy Headteacher meetings. The Local Authority publicise their ‘offer’ through central 
communications to schools. LA commissioned School Improvement Advisers' signpost 
to System Leaders.  
  
Regarding recruitment, LA Officers support Headteacher recruitment in all maintained 
primaries alongside Diocesan colleagues. Recruitment and retention of Headteachers is 
a strength. Only one school has failed to recruit on first attempt within the last three 
years. Many of our Senior Leaders are ‘home grown’. Feedback informs us that 
induction of new Headteachers is effective.  
  
NQT induction is effective, all NQTs undertaking the three terms of induction in Salford 
over the past 3 years have successfully completed, despite the variable quality of those 
entering the profession. The LA works with unions to address any areas of concern. 
Both Teaching School Alliances engage in ITT, although the quality of applicants is a 
barrier the numbers recruited this year (2019/20) have increased. Many primary schools 
work in partnership with local universities to support student teachers. The LA reinstated 
the NQT pool for primary schools this academic year, it was welcomed and well 
supported by schools.  
 
The LA is working in partnership with Maths and English Hubs this academic year to 
provide bespoke support to schools where phonics/early reading or mathematics 
outcomes require improvement. Engagement is good. Impact on pupil outcomes in 
individual schools will be measured in July 2020. 

Page 32



 3 

Partnership working between Senior Leaders and between LA officers and school 
leaders is strong.  The LA leads a termly Deputy Headteacher Forum and is invited to 
attend the Headteacher Forum which is led by the Headteachers themselves. Annual 
conferences for Headteachers and Deputy Headteachers are well attended by school 
leaders and LA officers. Termly literacy and mathematics leads networks have been 
established for many years and are well attended. Other subject leaders have engaged 
in training over the past 2 years.   
 
Good links with the RC and CE Diocese are in place and intelligence is shared on a 
regular basis.  
 
 
  
1.2 Secondary  
School improvement has been given a higher profile this year. Schools have engaged 
well with the new Secondary Lead Officer and a school improvement board has been 
established and has led on a refreshed strategy for secondary school improvement 
(https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/school-improvement/). The Lead 
Officer is responsible for ensuring that schools have the right support, whether this be 
from trusts, external organisations and systems leaders from within Salford and beyond. 
Schools have been prioritised according to need and this has been refined even further 
for 2019/20 using an agreed categorisation model and more clearly defined offer of 
support.   
  
Overall, the secondary outcomes in Salford still lag behind that of the primary. However, 
the LA now has a much sharper view of the quality of provision in each school and the 
reasons behind this data.  A number of new secondary Headteachers and secondary 
senior leaders have been appointed this last academic year. Induction has been 
provided for these leaders and they have met with key LA officers.   
  
Special Schools and Pupil Referral Units are in the main all good or outstanding. We 
have one special school that joined a MAT in the previous academic year and has not 
yet been inspected. Support has been offered to this school, particularly in the primary 
sector of the provision, which has weaknesses.  The LA continues to work closely with 
this school.   
  
The majority of mainstream schools are in partnerships via their multi-academy trusts. 
Only five secondary schools currently sit outside this arrangement (three catholic 
schools, one standalone Jewish faith academy and one maintained school that is 
currently being brokered to an academy trust). We work directly with these to provide 
direct support and broker school-school support.    
  
Multi-academy trusts are effective in providing direct support to their schools. This is 
largely related to strength of capacity and infrastructure to provide school improvement 
support within individual trusts, both at system level and from a financial perspective. 
The multi academy trusts in the city have a strong school improvement offer based on 
leadership development, provision of advice and subject consultancy support to 
schools. They all have positive working relationships with the LA and respond positively 
to support and challenge. The trusts hold leaders to account in a systematic manner.  

Page 33

https://www.salford.gov.uk/schools-and-learning/school-improvement/


 4 

We liaise directly with MATs to ensure that any support offered complements support 
already being received.  
  
Partnership working between primary and secondary schools is being strengthened via 
a revised approach to transition. See attached Appendix 1. Schools are working cross-
phase on standards and raising expectations in KS3. We are currently working with KS3 
leads of English and maths and literacy leads in secondary schools on this. A transition 
project with the NW Maths Hub has been set up and will be rolled out more widely 
beyond an initial pilot with four schools. This work will involve curriculum leads in 
primary and secondary working on transition and some training will be provided for 
secondary teachers for pupils who have not met expected standards in maths. Further 
work on maths intervention for pupils who did not reach expected standard in maths is 
being rolled out across all schools. The primary literacy consultant is working with 
secondary KS3 English leads on understanding the primary standards and some 
schools have been targeted for support from the National Literacy Trust to develop the 
leadership of literacy. A literacy leaders' network has been established to provide further 
training and development.   
  
Partnership working between senior leaders is being strengthened and a Deputy 
Headteachers curriculum network and a literacy leads network has been established. 
Middle leaders are engaged in networks   via the teaching school. Five schools are 
engaged in a STEM science-based project. Six schools are also involved in a maths 
challenge project run by the teaching school.   
  
Governor training for secondary schools has been strengthened. Additional training has 
been provided to governors on the curriculum. Good links with the diocese are in place 
and intelligence is shared on a regular basis.  
  
The teaching school has a CPD offer that schools in Salford can access. This is focused 
on the development of middle leaders subject specific CPD related to core subjects. 
The Teaching School delivers activities linked to Maths Hub too. The Teaching School 
continues to offer a package of maths and english support to targeted schools. The 
maths support is funded following a successful SSIF bid. Partnerships are being forged 
with other Teaching Schools via the GM Learning Partnership. This will enhance the 
support for schools beyond Salford.   
  
Most schools are now engaged in collaborative work within a Multi Academy Trust or 
are moving towards this arrangement.  Where schools sit outside a trust structure, local 
partnerships are brokered by the LA and Diocese.  
  
Partnerships have been forged with STAR Multi–Academy Trust. Eight schools are 
involved in a NPQSL leadership programme for senior leaders with twenty participants 
which started in September. Nine participants from four schools are involved in a 
NPQML programme which ended in December 2018 with a further cohort of thirty-one 
participants joining in September.  The LA is using its apprenticeship levy to develop a 
Salford leadership programme in 2019/20. Recruitment to headship has been 
successful and all schools have permanent Headteachers. A number of schools are 
involved in recruiting Teachers via Teach First. There is a SCITT (School Centred Initial 
Teacher Training) based at Buile Hill. In 2018/19, the vast majority of trainees attained 
the standards above the minimum level. There has been a strong improving trend in 

Page 34



 5 

outcomes over the past three years, particularly in terms of the proportion of trainees 
attaining the standards at the highest level. Overall, employment rates over the last 
three years have been above the sector average. Most gain employment within the local 
area. Trainees make at least good progress regardless of differences in starting points, 
for example in terms of their prior experience.  
  
A number of schools are involved in partnerships with HEIs such as MMU and 
Huddersfield University as well as other out of LA teaching schools and MATs. Head 
teachers report that mid-year is a difficult time to recruit for NQTs.  There is no local or 
regional approach to recruitment for secondary. Some secondary schools are involved 
in offering mainstream placements for trainees being trained via Oakwood Special 
School. There is evidence that recruitment to all Ebacc subjects is becoming more 
difficult, in particular humanities. Additionally, St Patrick’s RC High school take trainees 
via MMU partnership.  
  
A STEM partnership has been forged and six schools are involved in this with other 
schools accessing CPD for science. Other schools have been targeted for 2019/20 
based on results and LA knowledge of science departments.   
  
 A partnership with the National Literacy Trust has been created to provide literacy 
leadership support and CPD. A number of schools have been targeted based on 
deprivation data/ outcomes and knowledge of schools' capacity to take on the support.   
  
Salford was successful in obtaining a significant amount of national funding to improve 
arts provision. This bid was driven by the Local Cultural and Education Partnership and 
the Lowry Centre. As a result, twelve schools (primary, secondary and special) will be 
accessing a performing arts programme with professional performers linked to schools 
for a year. Alongside this a subsidiary programme of technical and script writing 
workshop are being offered. Schools have been targeted through data to ensure that 
the most disadvantaged pupils have access to this programme.  
  
A peer review of secondary school improvement was commissioned in 2017. As a 
result, the council has strengthened its approach to school improvement since last year. 
Stronger links are being made with the trusts and the diocese and individual schools. A 
School Improvement Board has now been established to scrutinise school standards 
and to identify the support required and how this is to be brokered, making use of 
identified best practice in the system as a whole, including system leaders, both within 
Salford and beyond. The board has overseen the revised Secondary school 
improvement strategy. There is a much clearer offer to schools in terms of the support 
they can access centrally, without duplicating support already being provided by the 
MATs. Where support cannot be provided internally, the school improvement lead casts 
their net out wider within Greater Manchester.   
 
Impact of Maths Support  
  

 The Teaching School was designation Assistant Maths Hub Status for 2018/19 
and delivered the following projects: Mathematical Thinking and the New GCSE and 
Challenging Topics – Ratio and Proportion, with eight Salford High Schools working 
in collaboration across the project range. The Teaching School continues to work 

Page 35



 6 

with the Maths Hub in the academic year 2019/20 and is delivering the ‘Challenging 
Topics’ project again.  
 Further maths support was funded following a successful SSIF bid with the aim 
of increasing attainment at grade 5 and grade 7. The project reached its completion 
in April 2019 and has been evaluated by the DFE and awarded a ‘Green’ for 
successful delivery. The greatest impact was seen with pupils attaining GCSE 7+ 
and 5+. With the 7+ grades, the majority of schools involved in the maths challenge 
reported an improvement in pupil performance in 2019 compared with 2018, with 
three of these schools improving significantly by more than 6%. In the schools where 
performance dipped this was expected in most cases by the school and results were 
generally above predictions made in the latest data capture. Furthermore, at GCSE 
5+ Grades, five schools reported an improvement in performance in 2019, and a 
further five school results are broadly in line with performance in 2018. In the case of 
two of the schools where performance fell below, this was expected and either in line 
with predictions. The Teaching School continues to offer a package of maths support 
to targeted schools for the 2019/20 academic year.  

 
1.3 Headteacher wellbeing 
Headteacher highlighted the need for a focus on their wellbeing through individual 
conversations which prompted the LA to carry out a wide ranging survey. Following this 
the following was put into place: 
 

 Training for Governors around their role and a guided conversation template 
developed. 

 Extension of the new HT induction programme to include wellbeing visits in the 
second year 

 Funded resilience training session open for all Headteachers. ‘When the going 
gets tough…’ 

 A funded Headspace group (facilitated peer group providing a regular space and 
time to talk through the challenges leaders are facing.) 

 A school wellbeing directory developed 
 
 
Priorities for next year are:    

 Continue to strengthen local SI infrastructure (SI Board/SPA and MAT board) to 
ensure that data and better knowledge of school’s strengths and weaknesses 
drives the focus of school improvement.    

 Roll out targeted school improvement offer to schools based on identification of 
data and category and continue to work closely with schools, and their MATs as 
appropriate, that are not yet good.  
 Further development of system wide school improvement model by identify 
where best practice is across a range of subjects so that leadership can be 
strengthened  
 Continue to tap into GMLP partners to provide support to schools where this is 
not available in Salford.   
 Continue cross phase transition work with refresh and relaunch of transition 
policy and continue to develop curriculum links between primary and secondary 
schools in maths and other subjects.   
 Continue to strengthen school governance so that governors can provide 
increased challenge to school leaders.   

Page 36



 7 

 Continue to develop Deputy Headteachers to enable their effectiveness 
 The development of middle and senior leadership through developing an 
apprenticeship leadership standard at Level 7 to improve recruitment and retention 
of middle and senior leaders as well as succession planning for Headteacher roles.   
 Roll out Stage Directions in partnership with the Lowry and BBC; a theatre 
making project funded by the Arts Council to involve pupils in schools in the most 
deprived areas of the city and various professional performance artists.  

 

 
 
KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: School Improvement Strategy, Education Strategy (Draft)  

 
 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:N/A 
 

 
 
ASSESSMENT OF RISK: N/A 
 

 
 
LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 

 
 
PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A 
 

 
HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 
  

 
 
OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: N/A  

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Cathy Starbuck  TEL NO: 0161 778 0183 

 
 
WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All 
 
Appendix 1:  Salford Transition Policy Refresh 2019-20 
 

Salford Transition 

Policy refresh 2019-20 (002).docx
 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Children’s Scrutiny Panel 
Work Programme and Recommendations 2019-20

SCHEDULE OF COMMITTEE DATES & AGENDA ITEMS

Date Topic/Action Responsible officer (s)

11th Sept 2019 Support offer to Young Carers Head of Service 

9th Oct 2019 Pupil Place Planning 
Service Groups Budgets

Cathy Starbuck
Chris Mee/Dave Cope

13th Nov 2019 Looked After Children (LAC)
 Reasons why children go into care
 Causes of family breakdown
 Update re. No Wrong Door
 Extra-curricular activities available

Zoe Fearon 

11th Dec 2019
Rescheduled due to 
the General 
Election on 
12.12.19

 Key Stage 4 attainment and including an overview of all the key 
stage performance

 Transition work between years 6 and 7 
 School Provider Arm Update
 Impact of Learning City Update

Cathy Starbuck

Debbie Blackburn

8 January 2020  Key Stage 4 attainment and including an overview of all the key 
stage performance

 Transition work between years 6 and 7 
 School Provider Arm Update

Cathy Starbuck

12 February 2020  Managed Move Process in Salford – Update on the IYFA 
Process/Managed Move Process including feedback from schools 
(including Pupil Voice and HT feedback via the HT Forum 
meetings)

 Impact of Learning City Update

Cathy Starbuck

Debbie Blackburn

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 5



2

11 March 2020  Recruitment and retention of Foster Carers – Recruitment and 
Retention of Foster Carers (including the impact of the changes to 
payments and comparisons across Greater Manchester).

 Looked After Children (items not covered on 13.11.19)
o Reasons why children go into care
o Causes of family breakdown
o Extra-curricular activities available

Zoe Fearon

June 2020  Route 29 - Update (to include an update on the support for 
parenting skills)

Samya Khan & Zoe Fearon

Regular monitoring reports

Service Group Budgets (Chris Mee/Dave Cope)
Service Group priorities (annually) 
School Performance Data (annually - Cathy Starbuck)

focus on agency costs 

                                                         Topics in abeyance

Children’s Dental Health
A Learning City
Development of GM agenda and how this affects the CSD

Reviews
Accessing Children’s and Young People’s Mental Health Services Councillor Edwards
Review of Route 29 (TBC)

RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER

Title of Report Date of submissions and responses Responsible Lead Member/officer

Fostering in Salford Report submitted to Executive Lead member for Children’s 
Services, Learning and Skills Oct 2015  Progress reviewed
January 2016 and Regular recruitment updates received 
(April 17) 
The next update is scheduled for the meeting on 11.03.20

Charlotte Ramsden/Zoe Fearon/Helen 
Romaniszyn

P
age 40



3

Portfolio of the Board: Membership – 12 Members (10 Lab 2 Con)
 Children in Need
 Integrated Looked after Children
 Early Intervention
 Children’s Safeguarding
 Integrated Youth Support including Youth Offender 

Service
 Complex Needs Inclusion
 Complex Needs SEN
 School Provider Arm
 Starting Life Well
 Transforming Learning
 Skills and Work
 Primary School Place Planning programmes
 Partnerships and Commissioning (including the 

Children and Young People’s Trust)
  To scrutinise the council’s business plan and        

budget in this functional area.

Cllr A Brocklehurst (Chair)
Cllr L Edwards (Vice Chair)
Cllr J Cammell
Cllr J Collinson
Cllr A Leitner
Cllr M McCusker
Cllr E Nelson
Cllr M Pevitt
Cllr N Reynolds
Cllr M Wade
Cllr Joan Walsh
Cllr R Wilson

Co-opted Members – 
Dr Keith Archer
Ms Jacqui Morrissey
Mrs Judith Elderkin
Four  vacancies (free churches rep, Jewish Rep, RC Rep; 1 parent gov)
Lead member: Councillor John Merry (Exec Support Cllr John Walsh) 
Key Officers: Charlotte Ramsden, Cathy Starbuck, Zoe Fearon, Deborah 
Blackburn, Beck Bibby)

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4b Salford Transition Policy (between years 6 and 7) 2019/20 - Vicky Ross
	4c School Provider Arm Update - Cathy Starbuck
	5 The work programme

